RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN **02-27-2019** SUPREME COURT

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT
OF WISCONSIN

State of Wisconsin,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

Appeal No. 2016-AP-0375-CR

v.

Case No. 11-CF-2815

Tyrus Lee Cooper.

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner,

DEFENDANT-APPELLANT-PETITIONER'S BRIEF
IN SUPPORT OF PETITION FOR REVIEW AND APPENDIX

APPEALED FROM:

COURT OF APPEALS, District I, Wisconsin

Decision dated February 27, 2018

Submitted by:

GIERKE LAW LLC

Nora E. Gierke

State Bar No. 1033618

1011 N. Mayfair Rd. Suite 304

Wauwatosa, WI 53226

P: 414.395.4600 F: 414.395.4610

APPOINTED STATE PUBLIC DEFENDER

AND ATTORNEY FOR

DEFENDANT-APPELLANT-PETITIONER

TYRUS LEE COOPER

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. When Cooper's counsel engaged in serious professional misconduct, preventing Cooper from adequately understanding and participating in his own defense, did this constitute ineffective assistance of counsel and provide Cooper with a fair and just reason to withdraw his guilty plea prior to sentencing?

The Trial Court Answered "no."
The Court of Appeals Answered "no."

2. In deciding whether Cooper may withdraw his guilty plea, is the circuit court bound by the Supreme Court's findings and/or conclusions in *In re Disciplinary Proceedings Against Hicks*, 2016 WI 31, 368 Wis. 2d 108, 877 N.W.2d 848 (2016), including, but not limited to, language stating that the failure of Cooper's trial counsel to properly communicate with him prevented him from adequately understanding and participating in his own defense, *see i.d.*, ¶¶ 23-28, 39?

The Trial Court Answered "no." The Court of Appeals Answered "no." 3. Did the circuit court erroneously exercise its discretion when it denied defendant's motion to withdraw his plea prior to sentencing without a sufficient evidentiary record to support a finding that withdrawal of the plea pre-sentencing would result in substantial prejudice to the State?

The Trial Court Answered "no." The Court of Appeals Answered "no." The Court of Appeals did not expressly answer this question, but instead held that Cooper had not met the initial burden of showing he had a fair and just reason for withdrawal of the plea.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

This Court should grant oral argument and publish its decision. This appeal raises important legal issues regarding whether a defendant, whose court appointed counsel commits professional misconduct, is suspended during the representation of defendant, and who is ultimately sanctioned for his mishandling of defendant's case, has a "fair and just reason" to support his pre-sentencing plea withdrawal motion under the applicable liberal *Canedy* standard.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND THE FACTS

The case arose out of an incident on June 12, 2011, at 1909 West Greenfield, Ave. in the City of Milwaukee, the home of L.C. (Pursuant to Wis. Stat Rule 809.86(4) the victim is hereinafter referred to as "L.C.") (2:1-2; P-App. 157-158). L.C. was beaten and robbed by a number of men. *Id.* A television was taken and L.C. suffered injuries as a result of the assault. *Id.*

The Criminal Complaint alleged that L.C. identified a tattoo on the forearm of one of the assailants which said "FAM" or FAM 1." *Id.* A detective from the Milwaukee Police Department searched records kept by the MPD and found two individuals matching the description. *Id.* The Criminal Complaint further alleged that Appellant Tyrus Lee Cooper ("Cooper" or "Appellant") was one of two people who had such a tattoo and that the detective showed L.C. photos of both tattoos, and L.C. identified the one that allegedly belonged to Cooper. *Id.* Further, the Criminal Complaint alleged that L.C. was asked if she knew Cooper and that she indicated he was a friend of her boyfriend and had been at the house on a prior occasion. *Id.* Based on these allegations, among others, Cooper was charged with one count of armed robbery as a party to a crime on June 17, 2011. *Id.*

Cooper was initially appointed defense counsel, but sought a change of counsel on November 12, 2012 citing an issue with communication with his first appointed attorney. (R. 12:1; R. 47:2-3). Cooper's counsel moved to withdraw on December 6, 2012 citing a serious breakdown in

communications. (R. 47:2-3). Cooper was then appointed new counsel, Attorney Michael Hicks ("Hicks"). (R. 48:2). Hicks acted as counsel for Cooper after his initial counsel withdrew, and up until Hicks' withdrawal in January 2014. (R. 53:2).

Trial in Cooper's case was reset from April 29, 2013 to October 21, 2013 after the trial court and Hicks both realized they had scheduling issues at a prior pretrial hearing. (R. 50:1-3; R. 51:1-2; P-App. 117-118). By letter dated October 8, 2013 (but not filed until October 18, 2013), Cooper wrote to the circuit court leveling a number of complaints about Hicks' performance as counsel in his case. (R. 14:1-2;P-App. 160-161). Cooper's complaints included his concern about his counsel's lack of adequate preparation for trial, which was to occur in less than 2 weeks. *Id.* Cooper was also concerned about Hicks' lack of communication and his failure to contact alibi witnesses. *Id.* Cooper specifically stated that he was not able to assist in his own defense, and had not received the benefit of effective assistance of counsel before trial. *Id.*

On October 21, 2013, the date the case was set for trial, Cooper pled guilty to armed robbery as a party to a crime. (R. 51:1; P-App. 103-107). Cooper and the State agreed the State would recommend 3 years of initial confinement and 3 years of extended supervision as a condition of plea deal. (R. 52:2; P-App. 118). The Court held an on the record the conversation with Cooper whereby Cooper was walked through the elements. (R. 52:4-12;

P-App. 120-128). Cooper was told that the State would need to prove all the elements of each claim, but the Court never went through each element and asked if that element were actually true. *Id.* Instead the Court broadly asked Cooper if the facts contained in the underlying Criminal Complaint were true and correct. *Id.*

The Court briefly addressed Cooper's October 8, 2013 letter, and asked what Cooper wanted to do about it. (R. 52:13-14; P-App. 129-131). Cooper responded that it was "disposed of" and then indicated that he wanted the Court to take no action. *Id.* The Court made no further inquiry into the basis for the claims in the letter, or how those issues were resolved. *Id.*

Sentencing was set for January 9, 2014, but by letter dated December 21, 2013 (but not filed until January 2, 2014) Cooper again wrote to the circuit court this time stating that he wanted to withdraw his guilty plea. (R. 16; P-App. 165). In the January 9, 2014 letter, Cooper stated that he learned that while Hicks was advising him about his case, Hicks had been suspended from the practice of law. *Id.* Cooper's statement was factually correct; Hicks had been suspended while he was representing Cooper, but did not inform Cooper of that fact. *Id. See also Office of Lawyer Regulation v. Hicks (In re Hicks)*, 2016 WI 31, ¶¶ 23-28. Cooper's January 9, 2014 letter told the circuit court that Hicks had misled him into taking the plea deal,

and that Hicks said Cooper was destined to lose at trial. *Id.* Hicks withdrew and new counsel was appointed for Cooper. (R. 17).

On April 1, 2014, with the assistance of his new counsel, Cooper filed a motion to withdraw his guilty plea, prior to sentencing. (R. 19; P-App. 168). The grounds for the motion to withdraw were that the issues raised in October 8, 2013 letter had not been resolved or rectified. *Id.* Further, Cooper asserted that Hicks had been suspended from the practice of law during his representation of Cooper and never disclosed that fact to him. *Id.* Cooper further asserted that his plea was not knowingly or voluntarily entered into, was entered in haste, and without the benefit of effective assistance of counsel, pointing specifically to the fact that Hicks had not met with him to discuss the case or provided him copies of discovery materials. *Id.*

Hicks' misconduct as to his representation of Cooper (as referenced by Cooper in his motion to withdraw his plea) is also documented in Hicks' OLR disciplinary case, *In re Hicks*, 2016 WI 31, ¶¶ 23-28. Specifically, in *Hicks*, the Supreme Court outlined Hicks' misconduct as it related to Cooper as follows:

- Failing over the course of the representation to communicate with Cooper regarding issues raised in Cooper's January 2013 letter and to otherwise consult with Cooper regarding trial strategy and preparation "thereby preventing [T.C.] [Cooper] from adequately understanding and participating in his own defense";
- Failing to timely provide Cooper with a complete copy of the discovery materials, despite Cooper's requests;

- Failing to provide a written notice to Cooper of Hicks' February 12, 2013 suspension;
- Failing to provide written notice to the court and opposing counsel in Cooper's pending criminal case that Hicks' license to practice law had been suspended on February 12, 2013; and
- Failing to timely file a response to Cooper's grievance.

Id. (emphasis supplied).

On June 27, 2014, the circuit court held a hearing on Cooper's pre-sentencing motion to withdraw his plea. (R. 57:1-24; P-App. 133-156). At the hearing, Cooper outlined Hicks' misconduct, including his failure to communicate with Cooper and his failure to disclose to him concerning that Hicks' license to practice law had been suspended during his representation of Cooper. (R. 57:7-8; P-App. 139-140). The trial court heard the testimony and statements from counsel and Cooper, but denied Cooper's motion to withdraw his plea. (R. 57:21; P-App. 153). The State presented no evidence of prejudice. (R. 57:15-16, 18, 21-24; P-App. 147-148, 153-156). The only factor identified by the circuit court as a purported basis for the prejudice factor was the age of the case; the court did not appear to take into account the fact that only 2 months had elapsed between when Cooper entered his plea and asked to withdraw it. (R. 16:1; 52:1-16; 57:15-16, 18-24; P-App. 117-132, 150-155, 165).

On July 17, 2014 Cooper was sentenced to 5 years of initial confinement, and 5 years of extended supervision. (R. 30:1-2; P-App.

115-116). This was a higher sentence than the plea deal he had struck with the State. (*Compare* R. 52:1-2; P-App. 120-121).

Cooper timely filed his Notice of Appeal on February 18, 2016. (R. 33:1-2; P-App. 118-119). On February 27, 2018, the Wisconsin Court of Appeals issued its decision affirming the circuit court's decision. (P-App. 100-111). This Court subsequently granted Cooper's Petition for Review on December 12, 2018.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Whether the trial court erred in not allowing Cooper to withdraw his guilty plea prior to sentencing is subject to review under the erroneous exercise of discretion standard. *State v. Kivioja*, 225 Wis. 2d 271, 284 (1999), All that "this court need find to sustain a discretionary act is that the circuit court examined the relevant facts, applied a proper standard of law, and, using a demonstrated rational process, reached a conclusion that a reasonable judge could reach." *Loy v. Bunderson*, 107 Wis. 2d 400, 414-15, (1982); *see Kivioja*, 225 Wis. 2d at 284 (citing *State v. Salentine*, 206 Wis. 2d 419, 429-30, (Ct. App. 1996)).

The question of whether Hicks' misconducted amounted to ineffective assistance of counsel and thus formed the basis for a fair and just reason for Cooper to withdraw his plea pre-sentencing presents a mixed question of fact and law. *State v. Wood*, 2010 WI 17, ¶ 16, 323 Wis. 2d 321, 339 (2010) ("A claim for ineffective assistance of counsel is a mixed question of fact and

law.") (citing *State v. Doss*, 2008 WI 93, ¶ 23, 312 Wis. 2d 570 (2008)); *State v. Trawitzki*, 2001 WI 77, ¶ 19 (2001). This Court will defer to the circuit court's factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous. *Wood*, 2010 WI 17, ¶ 16; *see also State v. Pitsch*, 124 Wis. 2d 628, 634 (1985). "The conclusions as to whether an attorney's performance was deficient or prejudicial, however, are questions of law that we review independently" or *de novo. Id*; *see also Trawitzki*, 244 Wis. 2d 523, ¶ 19. *State v. Hunt*, 2014 WI 102, ¶ 22 (2014).

ARGUMENT

I. The Trial Court and Court of Appeals Erred In Refusing To Accept Cooper's Pre-Sentencing Motion To Withdraw His Plea.

Prior to sentencing, a plea may be withdrawn for any "fair and just reason." State v. Canedy, 161 Wis. 2d 565, 580-82 (Wis. 1991). Presentation of such a reason shifts the burden to the state to show that it would be substantially prejudiced by plea withdrawal. State v. Bollig, 2000 WI 6, ¶ 34. A fair and just reason means "the mere showing of some adequate reason for the defendant's change of heart," Libke v. State, 60 Wis. 2d 121, 128, (Wis. 1973). The court should "take a liberal, rather than a rigid, view of the reasons given." Bollig, 232 Wis. 2d 561, ¶ 29. This is a "liberal rule" under which withdrawals are "freely allow[ed]." State v. Jenkins, 2007 WI 96, ¶¶ 2, 29. Moreover, in applying this standard the trial court and the court of appeals were required to take into account and be bound by this Court's

prior factual findings and legal conclusions in *Hicks*.

It is a well-established principle of Wisconsin law that "when a court of last resort intentionally takes up, discusses, and decides a question germane to, though not necessarily decisive of, the controversy, such decision is not a dictum but is a judicial act of the court which it will thereafter recognize as a binding decision. Chase v. American Cartage Co., 176 Wis. 235, 238 (1922); see also State v. Taylor, 205 Wis. 2d 664, 670 (Ct. App. 1996). In addressing this doctrine, this Court cautioned that "[i]f the court of appeals could dismiss a statement in a prior case from this court as dictum, the limitation . . . against overruling, modifying, or withdrawing language would be seriously undermined. We therefore conclude that to uphold the principles of predictability, certainty, and finality, the court of appeals may not dismiss a statement from an opinion by this court by concluding that it is dictum." Zarder v. Humana Ins. Co., 2010 WI 35, ¶ 58, 324 Wis. 2d 325, 350 (2010).

Here, both the trial court and the court of appeals erred and abused their discretion in failed to properly consider and apply the factual findings and legal conclusions of this Court in *Hicks*. Namely, this Court not only agreed that Hicks' actions were improper and sanctionable, but this Court specifically held that Hicks' misconduct towards Cooper had the effect of "preventing [T.C.] [Cooper] from adequately understanding and participating in his own defense" *Hicks*, 2016 WI ¶ 28. Examining the

relevant facts and applying the legal conclusions from *Hicks* supports a conclusion that Cooper satisfied his burden to show that Hicks' misconduct amounted to ineffective assistance and that he met his burden to establish a fair and just reason to withdraw his plea. As such, the circuit court and court of appeals also erred in failing to require the State to show it would suffer substantial prejudice from Cooper's withdrawal of his plea. This also constitutes reversible error.

A. The Circuit Court And Court Of Appeals Were Bound By The Findings And Conclusions Of This Court In Hicks' In Determining Whether Cooper Satisfied His Burden To Show A Fair And Just Reason For Withdrawal Of His Plea.

The showing of a fair and just reason contemplates the "mere showing of some adequate reason for the defendant's change of heart." *State v. Shimek*, 230 Wis. 2d 730, 739, (Ct. App. 1999). A court must apply this test liberally. *Id.* "Fair and just reason" has not been precisely defined, Wisconsin courts have recognized a variety of fair and just reasons for plea withdrawal prior to sentencing, such as: *genuine misunderstanding of the plea's consequences; haste and confusion in entering the plea;* coercion on the part of trial counsel; *and confusion resulting from misleading advice from the defendant's attorney. State v. Shimek*, 230 Wis. 2d 730, 739, (Ct. App. 1999) (emphasis added). This is what we have here.

Cooper asserted he was confused as to the charge he was pleading to

and what his sentence range would be. (R. 57:10-13; P-App. 142-145). Cooper also asserted that Hicks misled him about the nature of the charge and the deal with the prosecution. (R. 57:7; P-App. 139). Cooper also complained that his attorney was non-communicative and suspended during a significant portion of his representation. (R. 57:10-13; P-App. 142-145). Hicks also misled Cooper about the nature of the charge and the deal with the prosecution. (R. 57:7; P-App. 139). *See also Office of Lawyer Regulation v. Hicks (In re Hicks)*, 2016 WI 31, ¶¶ 23-28. With these facts, Cooper gave a clear, cogent and understandable reason that met the burden of a "fair and just reason" for his withdrawal of his plea.

In response, the circuit court and court of appeals found nothing in the record to show that disclosure of the license suspension or any of Hicks' other misdeeds mattered to Cooper. (P-App. 106-108.) In doing so, however, the circuit court and court of appeals ignored the fact that this Court had already found that Hicks' misconduct *did* indeed matter to Cooper and *did* indeed interfere with Cooper's ability to understand and participate in his defense. *Hicks*, 2016 WI ¶ 28 (holding that Hicks' conduct prevented Cooper from "adequately understanding and participating in his own defense.") This Court also found that Attorney Hicks' representation of Cooper, in the case in which he sought to withdraw his plea, was so deficient that it warranted suspending the attorney's license for three years. *Id.* at ¶ 49.

Cooper has shown a fair, just and adequate reason for his motion to withdraw his plea.

B. The Circuit Court And Court Of Appeals Were Bound By The Findings And Conclusions Of This Court In Hicks' In Determining Whether Hicks' Misconduct Constituted Ineffective Assistance That This Satisfied Cooper's Burden To Show A Fair And Just Reason For Withdrawal Of His Plea.

As discussed above, Cooper's court appointed counsel was suspended during a portion of the representation, did not communicate with Cooper regarding his defense, and as a result Hicks was prevented from adequately understanding and participating in his own defense. Hicks' misconduct meets the definition of ineffective assistance.

1. Standard for ineffective assistance of counsel.

In *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984), the United States Supreme Court first set forth the standard to determine ineffective assistance of counsel. *Strickland* requires a two-prong test that requires a defendant first show "that counsel's performance was deficient"; and, second, show that "the deficient performance prejudiced the defense." *Id.* at 687. Deficient performance requires showing "that counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness." *State v. Johnson*, 133 Wis. 2d 207, 217, (Wis. 1986) (quoting *Strickland* at 688). In analyzing this issue, a court "should keep in mind that counsel's function, as elaborated in prevailing professional norms, is to make the adversarial testing process work in the particular case." *Strickland* at 690; *see Kimmelman v. Morrison*,

477 U.S. 365, 384 (1986).

Under Strickland, the presumption exists that counsel "rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment." Strickland at 690. A defendant overcomes that presumption "by proving that his attorney's representation was unreasonable under prevailing professional norms and that the challenged action was not sound strategy." Kimmelman at 384 (citing Strickland at 688-89). "Reasonable probability" is a "probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." Id. (quoting Strickland at 694). If this test is satisfied, relief is required; no supplemental, abstract inquiry into the "fairness" or "reliability" of the proceedings is permissible. Williams v. Taylor, 529 U.S. 362, 39-94 (2000). "The question is not whether the defendant would more likely than not have received a different verdict with the evidence, but whether in its absence he received a fair trial, understood as a trial resulting in a verdict worthy of confidence." Kyles v. Whitley, 514 U.S. 419, 434 (1995).

Cooper meets both prongs of the *Strickland* test, and in order for justice to be served, this Court should vacate the judgment of conviction and allow Cooper to withdraw his plea and go forward with a trial on the merits.

2. Cooper's Counsel Was Ineffective and Prejudiced Cooper.

Cooper was deprived of counsel during the period of time Hicks

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