RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 03-19-2019

IN SUPREME COUR PLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

Case No. 2016AP375-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

TYRUS LEE COOPER,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

ON REVIEW FROM A DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS, DISTRICT I, AFFIRMING A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND AN ORDER DENYING A MOTION TO WITHDRAW A GUILTY PLEA, ENTERED IN MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE M. JOSEPH DONALD, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF THE PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

LISA E.F. KUMFER Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1099788

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

A circuit court's factual findings are clearly erroneous only if they are not supported by the record. *Schreiber v. Physicians Ins. Co. of Wis.*, 223 Wis. 2d 417, 426, 588 N.W.2d 26 (1999).

B. Relevant law

A fair and just reason to withdraw a plea is some adequate reason for the defendant's change of heart "other than the desire to have a trial, or belated misgivings about the plea." *Jenkins*, 303 Wis. 2d 157, ¶ 32 (citation omitted). "Fair and just" has not been precisely defined, but courts have considered a genuine misunderstanding of the plea's consequences, haste and confusion in entering the plea, coercion on the part of trial counsel, and confusion resulting from misleading advice from trial counsel, to be fair and just reasons to withdraw a plea before sentencing. *State v. Shimek*, 230 Wis. 2d 730, 739–40, 601 N.W.2d 865 (Ct. App. 1999) (collecting cases).

The defendant has the burden to prove a fair and just reason by a preponderance of the evidence. *Jenkins*, 303 Wis. 2d 157, ¶ 34. However, "[i]f 'the circuit court does not believe the defendant's asserted reasons for withdrawal of the plea, there is no fair and just reason to allow withdrawal of the plea." Id. (citation omitted).

If the defendant proves to the circuit court's satisfaction that he has a fair and just reason to withdraw the plea, "the defendant must rebut evidence of substantial prejudice to the State." *Jenkins*, 303 Wis. 2d 157, ¶ 43.

"If the defendant does not overcome these obstacles in the view of the circuit court . . . the defendant's burden to reverse the circuit court on appeal becomes relatively high." Jenkins, 303 Wis. 2d 157, ¶ 44. "This is so because, on appeal, the defendant has two additional and substantial obstacles." Id.

"The first obstacle is the applicable standard of review." *Jenkins*, 303 Wis. 2d 157, ¶ 44. "The second obstacle is the extensive plea colloquy required of circuit courts." *Jenkins*, 303 Wis. 2d 157, ¶ 44. "The effect of more elaborate and comprehensive plea colloquies is to ensure that pleas are knowing, intelligent, and voluntary. The corresponding impact, however, is to make it more difficult for defendants to withdraw their pleas." *Jenkins*, 303 Wis. 2d 157, ¶ 60.

A defendant's "[s]olemn declarations in open court carry a strong presumption of verity." *Blackledge v. Allison*, 431 U.S. 63, 74 (1977). The presumption of truthfulness of a plea statement will not be overcome unless the defendant explains "why it is fair and just to disregard the solemn answers the defendant gave in the colloquy." *Jenkins*, 303 Wis. 2d 157, ¶ 62.

But again, even if the defendant provides an explanation, "[i]f 'the circuit court does not believe the defendant's asserted reasons for withdrawal of the plea, there is no fair and just reason to allow withdrawal of the plea." *Jenkins*, 303 Wis. 2d 157, ¶ 34 (citation omitted).

C. The circuit court did not find Cooper credible in light of the record, and Cooper therefore did not show a fair and just reason to withdraw his guilty plea.

The circuit court's findings are not clearly erroneous given the record, and consequently "there is no fair and just reason to allow withdrawal of [Cooper's] plea." *Jenkins*, 303 Wis. 2d 157, ¶ 34.

Cooper testified that he was "misled by Hicks" into believing that the charges were being amended. (R. 57:7.) He said he "never knew the charges were still set at armed robbery, use of force, party to a crime, and [he] was still facing forty years or anything as such." (R. 57:7.) He also claimed that once he learned that Hicks's license had been suspended and confronted him about it, Hicks "was willing to step down" because "he knew that he was out of order." (R. 57:7–8.)

The circuit court did not find Cooper's testimony credible in light of the record. (R. 57:20.) Furthermore, the circuit court found that Cooper was aware that the plea court was willing to act on his complaints about Hicks set forth in his October 8 letter, but Cooper did not want the court to do so because he was satisfied with the plea agreement. (R. 57:20.) The court found that the real reason Cooper wanted to withdraw his plea was because he became angry with Hicks after he learned about the OLR investigation. (R. 57:19–20.)

The circuit court noted that during the plea colloquy, the plea court thoroughly explained the charge to which Cooper pled, including the maximum potential sentence and each element of the charge. (R. 57:9.) The circuit court asked Cooper, "[h]ow can you say you did not know or how can you say that you expected the charge was being reduced when the court just told you what the charge was?" (R. 57:9.)

Cooper said he thought the court was just reading the original charges, and did not know that he was still facing forty years until after pleading guilty. (R. 57:10.) The circuit court said,

And I understand you're telling me that you didn't know, but as Judge Flynn is asking you and telling you what it is, you're saying that you do know, understand?

[COOPER]: Yes.

THE COURT: Which one is it? Are you saying that you didn't know what Judge Flynn was talking about, or are you saying you didn't know it and it was only afterward that you thought that somehow it was being reduced to something else?

[COOPER]: (No response.)

THE COURT: Mr. Cooper, do you understand the question?

[COOPER]: Well, before I thought - - [b]efore he even asked me this question, I thought the charges were being amended because my lawyer came back to the bull pen where I was just there and brought me the plea deal and I told him, yeah, I was willing to accept it. So when I came out here and Judge Flynn talked to me and he said, you know, was I willing to accept a plea and the grounds that he didn't' have to go over the plea and this is what I was facing, forty years as party to a crime of armed robbery, then, you know - - I mean, I'm thinking he still reading the charges in as they were, not the plea deal that was set forth.

(R. 57:10-11.)

The circuit court then read through the plea transcript, noting that the plea court had read each individual element to Cooper and asked him if he understood each one. (R. 57:10–13.) Cooper said that he did, to every element. (R. 57:10–13.) Given Cooper's unequivocal

statements, the court found "it hard to believe that somehow [he was] now saying, wait a minute, that wasn't discussed between [Cooper] and Mr. Hicks when, in fact, [Cooper] told the court, yes, I understand it." (R. 57:13.)

Furthermore, Cooper's allegations that he thought he was pleading to an amended charge and that he "never did an armed robbery" (R. 16), were belied by the following exchange:

THE COURT: Now, to the charge made against you of being a party to armed robbery by use of force, what plea have you entered to that charge made against you in the information?

[COOPER]: Plead guilty.

(R. 52:7.) Cooper also filled out, signed, and filed a plea questionnaire that detailed the charge, the maximum sentence, and the State's recommendation. (R. 15.)

The record thus supports the circuit court's finding that Cooper understood the maximum sentence and charge to which he pled guilty.

also The record the circuit supports court's determination that Cooper only wished to withdraw his plea based on belated frustration with Hicks, which had nothing to do with Cooper's entry of his plea. The circuit court asked Attorney Ohiku if he had anything to add after Cooper's testimony, and he pointed to Cooper's October 8 letter, reminding the court that "two weeks prior to his entering his plea . . . [Cooper] contacted the court, letting the court know he hadn't received all of the information from Attorney Hicks." (R. 57:14.)

But at the outset of the motion hearing, the circuit court discussed the fact that the plea court asked Cooper about his October 8 letter. (R. 57:3–4.) The plea court asked Cooper if he discussed the letter with Hicks, and Cooper said

yes. (R. 57:3.) The circuit court noted that the plea court then asked Cooper, "what do you want done as to the letter, and the defendant responds disposed of. . . . and then the court says do you want the court to take any action based on it, and the defendant's response is no actions." (R. 57:3–4.)

The circuit court therefore said it did not believe Cooper's assertion that the complaints he raised in his October 8 letter had any bearing on his entry of his plea. (R. 57:20.) Rather, the court found that, "after Mr. Cooper had some time to think about it he was a little frustrated and upset with his attorney, Mr. Hicks," but at the plea hearing, Cooper "understood that the court even had a copy of his letter and specifically asked him if there [was] anything [he] want[ed] done with this letter and his response was no actions." (R. 57:19–20.)

And, in fact, the circuit court's assessment is further supported by Cooper's own claims at the motion hearing. After the circuit court asked why Cooper's October 8 letter should have any weight when Cooper told the plea court he wanted no action taken on it, defense counsel told the court:

 $\ensuremath{\mathrm{I}}$ will get right to the point. As I understand it, Mr. Cooper --

First of all, if the Court were to allow Mr. Cooper to withdraw his plea, he still might decide to enter a plea, because he does like -- he's satisfied, I guess, with the recommendation that [the State] made. He really doesn't grapple with that. What he grapples with is . . . [that] he didn't know Attorney Hicks' license was suspended at the time of his representation of Mr. Cooper.

(R. 57:4–5.) In short, Cooper admitted that he did not actually have concerns about the plea or the advice he received. (R. 57:4–5.) He was simply angry with Hicks for failing to tell him about Hicks's license suspension. (R. 57:4–5.)

Cooper discusses none of the circuit court's factual findings about his comprehension of his guilty plea. (See Cooper's Br. 12–18.) Cooper does not even mention the answers he gave at the plea hearing, let alone explain "why it is fair and just to disregard the solemn answers the defendant gave in the colloquy," or explain why the circuit court had to do so. Jenkins, 303 Wis. 2d 157, ¶ 62; (Cooper's Br. 10–18.) Apart from noting that counsel has been disciplined and repeating his nebulous claims that he was "misled him about the nature of the charge and the deal with the prosecution," Cooper's entire argument consists of bolding a single line of text from Shimek recognizing that misleading advice from counsel may be a fair and just reason, and proclaiming "[t]his is what we have here." (Cooper's Br. 12–13.)

Cooper neither points to anything in the record before the circuit court that would show that the circuit court's finding—that he was not confused—was clearly erroneous, nor provides any material facts that would support his arguments. See State v. Allen, 2004 WI 106, ¶¶ 21–24, 274 Wis. 2d 568, 682 N.W.2d 433. He does not explain how or why he was confused after filling out the plea questionnaire, or after the plea court explained the charge and maximum penalty to him, or why he told the plea court that he why the circuit court should understood. ornevertheless found his motion hearing testimony credible. (See Cooper's Br. 12–13.) Nor does he explain why Hicks's one-month suspension that occurred seven months before the plea would have caused him to be confused. (Cooper's Br. 12-16.

The circuit court's findings—that Cooper only wished to withdraw his plea because of his belated anger with his attorney's failure to disclose his suspension—are supported by the record. They therefore cannot be clearly erroneous. *Schreiber*, 223 Wis. 2d at 426.

D. Cooper's belated frustration is not a fair and just reason to withdraw his guilty plea.

The circuit court correctly held that Cooper's being upset with his former attorney alone is not a fair and just reason to withdraw Cooper's fully-understood and admittedly-satisfactory plea, especially given his stated desire to reenter the same plea. (R. 57:4–5.)

All of the "fair and just" reasons this Court recognizes require the defendant to show, at the very least, that he might have opted for a trial had the plea process occurred differently. See Shimek, 230 Wis. 2d at 739 (fair and just reasons include genuine misunderstanding of the plea's consequences, haste and confusion in entering the plea, coercion, and confusion resulting from misleading advice from counsel). This is required because "[t]he purpose of permitting plea withdrawals before sentencing under this liberal standard is to facilitate the efficient administration of justice by reducing the number of appeals contesting the knowing and voluntariness of a plea; it also ensures that a defendant is not denied a trial by jury unless he clearly waives it." Id.

Allowing a defendant to withdraw his plea and attempt to reenter the same plea for the sole purpose of doing so with a different attorney thwarts, rather than facilitates, "the efficient administration of justice," and is not necessary to preserve the defendant's right to a jury trial. *Shimek*, 230 Wis. 2d at 739.

Cooper did not even have a "change of heart." *Jenkins*, 303 Wis. 2d 157, ¶ 31. He has not claimed that he wants a trial. (R. 57:4–5.) He admitted he would seek to enter another plea if allowed to withdraw this one. (R. 57:4–5.) He

admitted he is happy with the recommendation he received from the State. (R. 57:4–5.) His sentence, five years of initial confinement and five years of extended supervision, is lenient for armed robbery.

Instead, he only claimed he would have wanted a different attorney had he learned of Hicks's suspension. (R. 57:4–5.) But Cooper simply wishing a different attorney negotiated the same plea agreement is not a fair and just reason to withdraw it. *Cf. Shimek*, 230 Wis. 2d at 741.

In sum, the record shows that the circuit court "reached a reasonable conclusion based on the proper legal standard and a logical interpretation of the facts." *State v. Kivioja*, 225 Wis. 2d 271, 284, 592 N.W.2d 220 (1991). Though another court could have reached a different decision, the circuit court's findings are supported by the record, and therefore cannot be clearly erroneous. *State v. Canedy*, 161 Wis. 2d 565, 585–86, 469 N.W.2d 163 (1991). The circuit court did not erroneously exercise its discretion. Consequently, this Court must affirm the circuit court's decision. *Kivioja*, 225 Wis. 2d at 284.

II. The circuit court was not bound at the 2014 plea withdrawal hearing by this Court's subsequent 2016 findings in *In Re Hicks III*, and the court of appeals was bound to review the circuit court's 2014 decision for an erroneous exercise of discretion.

Cooper claims that in applying the fair and just reason standard, "the trial court and the court of appeals were required to take into account and be bound by this Court's prior factual findings and legal conclusions" in *In re Hicks III*. (Cooper's Br. 10–11.) To support this claim, he argues that lower courts cannot disregard statements of this Court as dictum. (Cooper's Br. 11.) He further claims that "both the trial court and the court of appeals erred and abused their

discretion in fail[ing] to properly consider and adopt the factual findings and legal conclusions of this Court" in *In re Hicks III*. (Cooper's Br. 11.)

He is wrong on all accounts, for multiple reasons.

A. The circuit court could not be bound by findings that had not been made.

No "prior factual findings and legal conclusions" existed for the circuit court to take into account at the motion hearing. The circuit court held the hearing on Cooper's plea withdrawal motion on June 27, 2014. (R. 57:1.) This Court's opinion in *In re Hicks III* was filed on April 29, 2016—nearly two years after the motion hearing. (R. 57:1.)

Cooper fails to explain how the circuit court could have been "bound by" findings that had not occurred. (Cooper's Br. 10–12.) The circuit court granted a hearing on Cooper's motion, made factual findings based on the record before it, applied the correct law, and, in its discretion, denied Cooper's motion because it did not believe his assertions. That is exactly what the circuit court was required to do. *Jenkins*, 303 Wis. 2d 157, ¶ 30.

B. The referee in *In re Hicks III* and the circuit court at Cooper's plea withdrawal hearing were finding different facts; therefore, there is no conflict between their findings.

The referee in *In re Hicks III*—as any referee does in any OLR proceeding—made factual findings about *what Hicks did*, and it based those findings on OLR's complaint. *In re Hicks III*, 368 Wis. 2d 108, $\P\P$ 1–2. Because Hicks pled no contest to the complaint, there was no hearing. *Id*.

Nothing in this Court's opinion in *In re Hicks III* indicates why or how the referee reached the conclusion that

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